Development of Dry Emulsion formulation of Ibuprofen and its Characterization

By

Jamim Bhuiyan

ID: 18346057

A thesis submitted to the School of Pharmacy In partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Bachelor of Pharmacy (Hons.)

School of Pharmacy

BRAC University

September 2022

©2022. Brac University

All rights reserved.

Declaration

It is hereby declared that

- 1. The thesis submitted is my own original work while completing a degree at Brac University.
- 2. The thesis does not contain material previously published or written by a third party, except where this is appropriately cited through full and accurate referencing.
- 3. The thesis does not contain material which has been accepted, or submitted, for any other degree or diploma at a university or other institution.
- 4. I have acknowledged all main sources of help.

Jamim Bhuiyan ID: 18346057

Approval

The thesis titled "Development of Dry Emulsion formulation of Ibuprofen and its Characterization" submitted by Jamim Bhuiyan (ID 18346057) of Summer, 2018 has been accepted as satisfactory in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of pharmacy on 30th October,2022.

Examining Committee:

Supervisor:

Professor Dr. Hasina Yasmin

Assistant Dean and Program Director

School of Pharmacy

Brac University

Program Coordinator:

Assistant Dean:

Dean:

Namara Mariam Chowdhury Lecturer, School of Pharmacy

Brac University

Professor Dr. Hasina Yasmin

Assistant Dean and Program Director

School of Pharmacy

Brac University

Professor Dr. Eva Rahman Kabir Dean, School of Pharmacy Brac University

Ethics Statement

The study does not involve any kind of animal or human trial.

Abstract

Ibuprofen (IBP) is a NSAID, falls under BCS class II drug having poor aqueous solubility (21 mg/L) that may limit its biopharmaceutical behavior in clinical application. The main purpose of this study is to develop dry emulsion formulation of ibuprofen (DE-IBP). DE-IBP was prepared by evaporating a liquid O/W emulsion containing ethyl acetate polymer, polyethylene oxide 600, and medium chain triglyceride as the emulsifying agents. Physicochemical properties of DE-IBP were evaluated using various analytical techniques. The results showed reduced particle size in DE-IBP as well as the crystalline nature of IBP has reduced significantly; which might be beneficial in enhancing the solubility of IBP compared to crystalline IBP. The dissolution studies in water showed improved dissolution of DE-IBP could be a promising drug delivery strategy to improve the biopharmaceutical behaviors of IBP.

Dedication

To my parents and beloved teachers who made me into the person I am today.

Acknowledgement

I am grateful to almighty Allah for providing me the opportunity to work with such wonderful people from the school of pharmacy who have always been idealistic and encouraging throughout my journey.

First and foremost, I am indebted to my supervisor Professor Dr. Hasina Yasmin (Professor, Assistant Dean and Program Director, School of Pharmacy, Brac University) for giving me the privilege to work as one of her thesis students. In addition, her support, guidance, dedication, enthusiasm and expertise in this arena have driven me more interested in thesis work and helped me to complete the research properly.

Secondly, I would like to thank Dr. Shimul Halder (Associate Professor, Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Dhaka) for providing me with huge knowledge and opinion in this arena. During the experiments he helped with all the possible sources of information and his dedication was a motivation to me.

Most significantly, I would love to thank Professor Dr. Eva Rahman Kabir (Chairperson, School of Pharmacy, Brac University) for her support, motivation and kind words. Besides, she taught me to be humble, patient and confident while working hard.

Additionally, I want to express my sincere gratitude toward Namara Marium Chowdhury (Lecturer, Brac University) and Tanisha Tabassum Sayka Khan (Lecturer, Brac University) for consistently assisting me anytime I encountered a difficulty working on my project.

Lastly, I would like to give a special thanks to Md Mahmudul Hasan Raz for supporting me throughout the project phase and helping me to bring out the best form myself. Also, I would love to thank my parents for their constant motivation and unconditional support toward pursuing my dream.

Table of Contents

Declarationii
Approval iii
Ethics Statementiv
Abstractv
Dedicationvi
Acknowledgementvii
Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1 Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs)1
1.1.1 Classification
1.1.3 Mechanism of action of NSAIDs2
1.2 Effect of Solubility in Drug Development
1.2.1 Solubility
1.2.2 Significance of solubility enhancement
1.2.3 Solubility enhancement techniques
1.2.3.1 Physical modification6
1.2.3.2 Chemical modification
1.2.3.3 Miscellaneous techniques
1.3 Ibuprofen (IBP)9
1.4 Factors affecting bioavailability of IBP11
1.5 Purpose of the Study
Chapter 2 Materials and Method14

2.1 Materials	14
2.2 Instrument	14
2.3 Methodology	15
2.3.1 Construction of Calibration Curve of IBP	15
2.3.2 Preparation of Dry Emulsion	15
2.3.3 Dissolution Study	18
2.4 Physicochemical Characterization	18
2.4.1 Particle Size Distribution	
2.4.2 Surface Morphology	
2.4.3 Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)	19
2.4.4 X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRPD)	19
2.4.5 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR)	19
Chapter 3 Results and Discussion	20
3.1 Standardization of IBP	20
3.2 Dissolution Study of DE-IBP	21
3.3 Physicochemical Characterization of DE-IBP	22
3.3.1 Particle Size Distribution	22
3.3.2 Surface Morphology	23
3.3.3 Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)	24
3.3.4 X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRPD)	25
3.3.5 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR)	26

•	
Deferences	20

List of Tables

Table 1: Solubility criteria according to United States Pharmacopeia (USP).	4
Table 2: Available dosage forms of IBP and their limitations	10
Table 3: Modified formulations of available dosage forms of IBP	12
Table 4: Specifications of instruments used in research	14
Table 5: Composition of IBP loaded dry emulsion formulation	16

List of Figures

Figure 1: Chemical classification of NSAIDs	2
Figure 2: Biopharmaceutics Classification System (BCS).	5
Figure 3: Redispersion of dry emulsion in the aqueous phase	7
Figure 4: Ibuprofen (IBP)	9
Figure 5: Flow chart for preparation of IBP loaded dry emulsion formulation	17
Figure 6: Calibration curve of IBP	20
Figure 7: In vitro dissolution study of IBP and DE-IBP	21
Figure 8: Particle size distribution of DE-IBP sample in water	22
Figure 9: SEM images of a) IBP & b) DE-IBP	23
Figure 10: DSC of DE-IBP and IBP	24
Figure 11: Crystallinity analysis of DE-IBP and IBP	25
Figure 12: FT-IR analysis to determine IBP-Polymer compatibility	26

List of Acronyms

NSAID	Non-Steroidal Anti-inflammatory drug
IBP	Ibuprofen
DE-IBP	Dry Emulsion Ibuprofen
DSC	Differential scanning calorimetry
XRPD	X-ray powder diffraction
SEM	Scanning electron microscope
DLS	Dynamic light scattering
FT-IR	Fourier transport infrared spectroscopy

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs)

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are widely used as analgesics and antipyretics (Gupta & Bah, 2016; Budoff, 1979). Primarily, NSAIDs are used to treat inflammatory disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis and menstrual cramps. Nowadays, NSAIDs are considered as widely used over the counter medication in the world which stand up for 5% of all prescribed medications (Tsutsumi et al., 2004). Before the discovery and development of NSAIDs around 500 BCE, Hippocrates mentioned in his writing about willow bark and leaves which can treat pain and fever. Since then, various chemists and scientists have worked tirelessly to produce these "wonder drugs". After the discovery of aspirin in 1897 by Felix Hoffman of the Bayer industry, pharmaceutical sector gave importance to NSAIDs (Montinari et al., 2019).

1.1.1 Classification

NSAIDs are usually classified based on their chemical properties; Figure 1 illustrates the chemical classification of NSAIDs. The majority of the well-known NSAIDs have been classified as the derivatives of acetic acid, salicylic acid, anthranilic acid, enolic acid, etc. Due to scientific advancement, classification of these drugs is now based on the selectivity for inhibition of cyclooxygenase enzymes that are their primary targets. Aspirin is a nonselective and celecoxib is cyclo-oxygenase 2 (COX-2) inhibitor. Again, NSAIDs are also classified according to their plasma half-life. Aspirin, diclofenac and IBP are short acting with a plasma half-life less than 6 hours. Naproxen and celecoxib are long acting with a plasma half-life greater than 10 hours (Bindu et al.,2020).



Figure 1: Chemical classification of NSAIDs.

1.1.3 Mechanism of action of NSAIDs

NSAIDs inhibit the enzyme COX which is important for converting arachidonic acid into prostacyclins, thromboxanes, and prostaglandins. Here, thromboxanes are important for platelet, adhesion, and prostaglandins are responsible for vasodilation, temperature increment in hypothalamus, anti-nociception. Among the two cyclooxygenase isoenzymes, cyclooxygenase 1

(COX-1) is constitutively expressed in the body and is important to maintain kidney function, platelet aggregation and gastrointestinal mucosa lining. Cyclooxygenase isoenzyme 2 (COX-2) is expressed while an inflammatory response occurs in the body. Mostly, NSAIDs are non-selective and inhibit both the cyclooxygenase isoenzymes but selective NSAIDs target and inhibit cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) so, they give therapeutic action without disturbing the gastric mucosa (Ghlichloo & Gerriets, 2022).

1.2 Effect of Solubility in Drug Development

1.2.1 Solubility

In order to get optimum drug concentration for desired pharmacological response, solubility is one of the most important factors. At the absorption site, all medication has to be in solution form for being absorbed. However, low water solubility is the main issue in developing formulations for new chemical entities as well as for generic development. Research says around 40% of the new chemical entities developed by the pharmaceutical industry are basically insoluble in water. Therefore, for formulation scientists, solubility is an obstacle. On the other hand, solubility usually happens in dynamic equilibrium which implies that it is the outcome of the opposing and simultaneous processes of dissolution and phase joining. When both processes occur at a constant rate, solubility is in equilibrium state (Savjani et al., 2012). The criteria that are set by United States Pharmacopeia (USP) for soluble drug products has been illustrated in table 1.

Descriptive term	Parts of solvent required for one part of solute	Solubility range (mg/mL)	Solubility assigned (mg/mL)
Very soluble	< 1	≥ 1000	100 0
Freely soluble	From 1 to 10	100-1000	100
Soluble	From 10 to 30	33-100	33
Sparingly soluble	From 30 to 100	10-33	10
Slightly soluble	From 100 to 1000	1-10	1
Very slightly Soluble	From 1000 to 10,000	0.1-1	0.1
Practically insoluble	≥ 10,000	< 0.1	0.01

Table 1: Solubility criteria according to United States Pharmacopeia (USP).

The biopharmaceutics Classification System (BCS) can be used as a guide to predict intestinal drug absorption that has been stated by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. These drugs usually have four classes which are class I, class II, class III and class IV which correspondingly indicate high solubility and high permeability, low solubility and high permeability, high solubility and low permeability that has been shown in figure 2 (Absorption system, n.d.).



Figure 2: Biopharmaceutics Classification System (BCS).

1.2.2 Significance of solubility enhancement

The poor bioavailability is the main issue in the oral dosage form design. There are several variables such as drug permeability, aqueous solubility and dissolution rate which can affect oral bioavailability. The most common reason for low oral bioavailability is poor solubility. Solubility is one of the key factors in systemic circulation to reach the desire drug concentration and essential pharmacological response. Poorly soluble drugs when taken orally may require high dosages to attain desired therapeutic plasma concentration. Hence, low water solubility is the main challenge in formulating new chemical entities as well as generic development (Savjani et al., 2012).

1.2.3 Solubility enhancement techniques

There are several techniques to improve solubility. These are categorized into physical modification, chemical adaptation, and other techniques.

Physical modification: Micronization and nanosuspension are part of the particle size reduction technique. Furthermore, amorphous form, polymorphs and cryogenic techniquesknown for crystal habit alteration, solid dispersions, solid solutions, and drug dispersion ineutectic mixtures are some examples of drug crystallization processes.

Chemical modification: Buffer utilization, p^H change, derivatization, complexation, and salt production.

Miscellaneous techniques: Utilization of supercritical fluids, utilization of adjuvants such as surfactant, solubilizers, hydro-trophy, co-solvency, and novel excipients (Savjani et al.,2012).

1.2.3.1 Physical modification

Particle Size Reduction: As drug particles get smaller, the surface area to volume ratio rises which frequently has an intrinsic relationship with drug solubility. Increased solubility results from more contact between the surface area and the solvent. Thus, an effective, repeatable, and affordable method of improving solubility is thus made possible by particle size reduction. Another common method for reducing particle size is micronization. Micronization increases the drug's dissolution rate by increasing surface area. However, this does not result in an increase in equilibrium solubility. These drugs dissolve more quickly when their particle size is reduced which increases surface area.

Solid Dispersion: When active ingredient is dispersed in inert hydrophilic carrier matrix it is then termed as solid dispersion (Sinha et al.,2010). Polyvinyl pyrrolidone (Povidone, PVP),

polyethylene glycols (PEGs), and PlasdoneS630 are the most widely used hydrophilic carriers for solid dispersion (savjani et al.,2012).

Dry emulsion formulation of IBP (DE-IBP): When rehydrated, an O/W emulsion can be rebuilt from dry emulsions which are considered as lipid-based powder formulations (Onoue et al., 2012). Figure 3 illustrates that in dry form the lipid and the drug are separately present in formulation but when they are in the aqueous phase they are redispersed and oil in water emulsion is reconstituted.



Figure 3: Redispersion of dry emulsion in the aqueous phase

Dry emulsion formulation work by providing improved bioavailability and they are more stable than other formulations of drugs. They are mainly prepared by drying the oil in water (o/w) emulsions with a solid carrier in aqueous phase and dry emulsion formulation can be prepared by lyophilization, spray drying, and rotary evaporator. We have used the rotary evaporator method in our research (Dange et al., 2015). It has been found that organic solvents and solubilizers used in liquid formulations like ethanol, castor oil create local irritation (Klyashchitsky & Owen, 1999). Besides, liquid state of emulsion formulation has several disadvantages such as few available dosages form choices, high manufacturing cost, also low stability (sato et al.,2015).

1.2.3.2 Chemical modification

Salt Formation: Using salt formation technique, low water-soluble drugs' solubility can be improved. Additionally, as a function of pH, solubility is taken into account. The interrelationships between pH and solubility also reveal the counter ions which are needed to form salts, dissociation of salt into their free acid or base forms, dissolution behavior under various gastrointestinal tract pH conditions and whether common ions would affect salts' dissolution rate and solubility. Furthermore, for the selection of salt formulation techniques, drugs should have specific characteristics. Ionizable groups should be present in the salt forming drug to help with salt formation. The following criteria are used for the selection of counter ions.

a. Minimum difference between the counter ion and the drug should be 2-3pKa units.

b. Crystal lattice forces should be decreased by Counter ion.

c. FDA approval is required (Sarfraz et al., 2017).

Microemulsion: A microemulsion is an isotropic, thermodynamically stable transparent system that consists of water, surfactant and oil sometimes a co-surfactant that is utilized in different ratios (Sarfraz et al.,2017). Various drugs with poor water solubility have been made more soluble using microemulsions.

1.2.3.3 Miscellaneous techniques

Co-solvency: A drug that is poorly soluble in water can frequently have its solubility increased by adding a cosolvent which is a water-miscible solvent and in which the drug has strong solubility.

Supercritical fluid process: Another cutting-edge method that is frequently used to enhance the solubility of poorly water-soluble drugs is the supercritical fluid (SCF) process. Supercritical fluids can take on the characteristics of both a liquid and a gas because their pressure and temperature are above their critical pressure (Tp) and critical temperature (Tc).

Prodrug approach: Prodrug synthesis can be used to enhance physicochemical traits like compound lipophilicity and solubility. Additionally, this method also stops chemical degradation and presystemic drug metabolism.

Nanosuspension: These are solid colloidal dispersions with nanoscale particles (200 to 500 nm). Reducing the size of drugs improves their bioavailability and capacity to dissolve into water.

Cryogenic technologies: The use of cryogenic procedures in the pharmaceutical industry helps hydrophobic compounds to dissolve more readily because they knit together into nanoscale amorphous particles with large surface area and porosity at a lower temperature (Sarfraz et al.,2017).

1.3 Ibuprofen (IBP)

One of the safest and most potent NSAIDs available on the market is IBP (Gosh et al., 1998). In 1967, IBP was first introduced to humans as an anti-inflammatory drug in England and the United States respectively. The chemical structure of IBP is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Ibuprofen (IBP)

It has distinct anti-inflammatory actions but much less detrimental effects on the stomach and has no impact on the adrenal-pituitary axis. In addition to treating gout syndrome, IBP is useful in treating rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis (Thomas & Kantor, 2016). Further, IBP has demonstrated effectiveness in treating a variety of clinical problems including dental pain, soft tissue pain, dysmenorrhea, migraine, headache, fever, etc. For various therapeutics purposes, IBP's mechanism of action is well established. Furthermore, IBP inhibits COX-1 and COX-2 in a nonselective and reversible manner. Both COX-1 and COX-2 convert arachidonic acid into prostaglandins such as thromboxane and prostacyclin. IBP's antipyretic and analgesic effects are related to the inhibition of prostaglandins which plays a significant role in inflammation and pain sensation. Currently available dosage forms of IBP include tablets, capsules, gel formulations, injectables and metered dose inhalers. However, these have their limitations that have been demonstrated in table 2 (Irvine et al., 2017).

Dosage forms	Limitations
Oral IBP	• 400 mg of IBP takes 45 minutes to
(Chewable tablets, oral suspension, capsules)	give an analgesic effect that is
	unwanted for patients who need rapid
	action.
	• Drug is extensively metabolized in
	liver

Table 2: Available dosage forms of IBP and their limitations

Gel formulations IBP	• Lack of analgesia with pH induced
(Dermal and transdermal)	 muscle pain because of drug clearance by plasma flow and lymphatic system It is challenging to achieve high and prolonged permeation across skin barrier since it has poor skin permeability
Injectables of IBP(Intravenous)	 Difficult to formulate due to Low aqueous solubility High manufacturing cost Crystals formation after administration may generate emboli in blood vessels
Metered dose inhaler (Pulmonary delivery)	• Coordination between inhalation and drug actuation is important in order to deliver drug to deep lungs

1.4 Factors affecting bioavailability of IBP

There are several factors that affect the absorption of a drug inside the body including physicochemicalproperties like solubility, drug formulation, etc. Passive diffusion is a way of drug absorption from a highly concentrated drug area like the gastrointestinal tract to a low drug concentrated area like bloodcirculation. Passive diffusion is directly influenced by solubility. Hence, by improving the solubility, absorption and bioavailability of the drug can be readily

improved (Smith, 2019). Based on this concept, many modifications have been made to the IBP formulations shown (table 3) (Irvine et al., 2017).

Dosage forms	Modified formulations
Oral IBP	• Gelatin capsules filled with solubilized IBP and salt
(Chewable tablets, oral	conjugates to improve solubility
suspension, liquid	Mechanical micro-ionization
capsules)	Self-emulsifying drug formulation
	• Use of surfactant
	Block copolymers
	• Dendrimers
	• Lysinate salt form of IBP
Gel formulations IBP	• Liposomal IBP gel formulation with carbopol
(Dermal and	• Combination of phosphatidylcholine, cholesterol and dicetyl
transdermal delivery)	phosphate (7:3:1 molar ratio) as formulation
	Nanoparticles and polymeric nanoparticles
	• Ethosomal gel with nano system had high bioavailability
Metered dose inhaler	• IBP nanoparticles formulated by evaporation condensation
(Pulmonary delivery)	technique
	• Spray drying technique to form dry emulsion
	• Nebulizer

Table 3: Modified formulations of available dosage forms of IBP

1.5 Purpose of the Study

Although IBP is widely used NSAIDs but due to its low aqueous solubility it has limited therapeutic actions. Hence, the purpose of this research is to develop dry emulsion formulation of IBP that have improved biopharmaceutical behavior over conventional IBP. The objective is to increase the water solubility of IBP and hence, improve the physicochemical property of the drug.

Chapter 2 Materials and Method

2.1 Materials

IBP, kollisolv, and stearic acid have been collected from BASF, Dhaka, Bangladesh. Carbopol was collected from Evonik, Dhaka, Bangladesh and polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), polyethylene glycol (PEG) 600, aerosol 500 was collected from Beximco pharmaceutical Ltd., Dhaka, Bangladesh. All the materials and excipients used were of analytical grade.

2.2 Instrument

All the instruments that were used while performing the research has been mentioned in table 4.

Instrument name	Model
UV-visible spectrophotometer	U-2910
Dissolution study	D8 USP Standard
Vortex mixture	VM-2000
Rotary evaporator	Heidolph, Gmbh
Digital analytical balance	PA213
Water bath	B120-DE
Vacuum drying oven	LVO-2030

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC)	Q1000
X-ray powder diffraction (XRPD)	D8 ADVANCE
Scanning electron microscope (SEM)	VE-7800

2.3 Methodology

2.3.1 Construction of Calibration Curve of IBP

Preparation of stock solution required dissolving 10 mg of IBP (API) in sufficient quantity of pure methanol in a volumetric flux and the final volume was made to 100ml, hence the concentration of the stock solution was 0.1 mg/ml. Further, 1 ml of stock solution was diluted using distilled water to form primary solution of 10 μ g/mL concentration. This primary solution was further diluted for preparation of solution with different concentrations of 5 μ g/mL, 2.5 μ g/mL and 1 μ g/mL. The absorbance of the solutions was recorded in the UV-visible Spectrophotometer and were plotted against concentrations to construct calibration curve. Here, pure methanol was used as a blank.

2.3.2 Preparation of Dry Emulsion

The composition of the formulation is shown in table 5. The active pharmaceutical ingredient IBP was mixed with PVA, stearic acid, water and was kept in a water bath for around 30 minutes at 40°-50°C. Again, carbopol and PEG600 was mixed with water and this mixture was added to the previous mixture. Further, kollisolv was added to the mixture and mixed in a vortex mixture for

30 minutes. Next, aerosil 500 was added and the formulation was placed in a rotary evaporator at 100 rpm by adding 2- 3 mL of ethanol at 45°C for 2 hours and then placed in a dryer at 45°C for 6 hours to get fine dry powder that has been demonstrated in figure 5. The resulting DE-IBP was found by crushing the dried particles with a mortar that was stored in a sealed container at ambient temperature away from sunlight.

API & Excipients	(w/w) %	Justification
IBP	20	API
Ethyl acetate polymer (Carbopol [®] 971P NF)	20	Emulsifying agent
Polyvinyl Alcohol (PVA)	10	Stabilize the formulation
Polyethylene oxide 600 (Kollisolv [®] PEG 600)	15	Emulsifying agent
Stearic acid	10	Emulsion solubilizer
Medium chain triglyceride (Kollisolv [®] MCT 70)	25	Emulsifying agent
Aerosil 500	5	Emulsifying agent

Table 5: Composition of IBP loaded dry emulsion formulation



Figure 5: Flow chart for preparation of IBP loaded dry emulsion formulation

2.3.3 Dissolution Study

The DE-IBP (equivalent to 100 mg of IBP) had been added to a dissolution vessel. The dissolution study was carried out at temperature 37°C by using USP paddle method and each vessel had 900 ml of distilled water rotating at 75 rpm. The time was recorded when paddles started to rotate. In an interval of 15 minutes, 30 minutes, 45 minutes, 60 minutes and 120 minutes, 10 ml of dissolution medium was withdrawn from each vessel and filtered. At the same time intervals, an equivalent volume of i.e., 10 ml of water was added in each vessel to maintain the original volume. Then, 2 ml of the filtered volume was taken and diluted 5 times using pure methanol. After that, the concentration of IBP-loaded dry emulsion was analyzed by a UV spectrophotometer. Here, at each time interval sample was collected thrice for each analysis.

2.4 Physicochemical Characterization

2.4.1 Particle Size Distribution

At a concentration of 0.1 mg/mL the formulations were suspended into distilled water, then they were measured in triplicate with dynamic light scattering (DLS) by using Zetasizer nano ZS (MALVERN, Worcestershire, U.K.) and these were performed at 25°C and at a measurement angle of 90° (Sato et al., 2015).

2.4.2 Surface Morphology

To determine surface morphology microscopes like scanning electron microscopy (SEM) is used to visualize objects that cannot be seen in naked eye. A VE-7800 scanning electron microscope without Au or Pt coating was used to take SEM images of DE-IBP. Each sample was kept on a sample holder made from aluminum which had double-sided carbon tape for SEM observation (Sato et al., 2015).

2.4.3 Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)

DSC experiments were conducted using the DSC Q1000 and DSC thermograms were collected in an aluminum closed pan system which had a sample weight (ca. 3 mg) including a heating rate of 5°C/min and nitrogen purge at a rate of 70 mL/min. Furthermore, indium has been used to calibrate the temperature (5 mg, 99.999% pure, onset at 156.6°C) (Sato et al., 2015).

2.4.4 X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRPD)

The XRPD pattern was obtained from utilization of D8 ADVANCE which includes CuK α radiation produced at 40 mA and 35 kV. Data collected with a step size of 0.014° and a scanning speed of 4°C/min (2 θ) from 10° to 40° (Sato et al., 2015).

2.4.5 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR)

All the different polymers were analyzed by FT-IR. As different polymers or excipients have different infrared absorption spectrum they were checked for any interaction and compatibility with each other in the formulation (Arkin & Isaiah, 2013).

Chapter 3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Standardization of IBP

A linear relation has been observed between the concentration range from (1-10) μ g/mL which have a correlation coefficient of (R²) 0.9981 it is illustrated in figure 6.



Figure 6: Calibration curve of IBP

3.2 Dissolution Study of DE-IBP

In vitro dissolution study of IBP was carried out at temperature 37° C by using USP paddle and rotating with 75 rpm. Data represents mean and \pm S.D. of 3 experiments. Released percentage of IBP verses time has been plotted in comparison with IBP to observe the dissolution rate of the DE-IBP in figure 7. At 15 minutes, approximately 39% DE-IBP was dissolved. Similarly, at the time period of 30 minutes, 45 minutes, 60 minutes and at 120 minutes DE-IBP showed approximately 37%, 42%, 45% and 50% release in comparison with non-modified IBP as given in figure 7. The prepared formulation gave a quick release of drug initially. Overall, the dissolution study showed a quicker onset of drug release in case of DE-IBP in comparison to that of non-modified IBP at 2hour period. Also, DE-IBP showed up to 50% release than IBP suggesting that DE-IBP would be a promising approach for improving the dissolution rate of IBP.



Figure 7: In vitro dissolution study of IBP and DE-IBP

3.3 Physicochemical Characterization of DE-IBP

3.3.1 Particle Size Distribution

Polydispersity index (PDI) typically represents the distribution of size populations within a particular sample and its numerical value ranges from 0.0 to 1.0. The closer to 0.0 it is an indication for a perfectly uniform sample with respect to the particle size and the closer to 1.0 that indicate for a highly polydisperse sample with multiple particle size populations (Danaei et al., 2018; Sarah & Clarke, 2013). In figure 8, D₅₀, mean particle size is 396 nm and Polydispersity index (PDI) is 0.331. Since, DE-IBP has polydispersity index is near 0 as shown in figure 8 and it forms a uniform distribution of particles in nano size in the aqueous media. Here, a dynamic light scattering (DLS) experiment was performed for the size measurement of the particles of the formulation. As, DE-IBP has reduced particle size, it will have increased aqueous solubility in comparison to IBP.



Figure 8: Particle size distribution of DE-IBP sample in water.

3.3.2 Surface Morphology

Scanning electron microscope (SEM) helps in the visualization of surface structure of IBP and DE-IBP. Figure 9 clearly illustrates that IBP has reduced surface area occupied but dry emulsion formulation has increased surface area. Each white bar represents 100 μ m. Hence, DE-IBP have enhanced solubility due to increase surface area in comparison with IBP.



Figure 9: SEM images of a) IBP & b) DE-IBP

3.3.3 Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)

In DSC analysis, crystalline IBP had a particular endothermic peak around 100°C (Figure 10), the endothermic peak in DE-IBP at the melting point of crystalline IBP was lost in DSC analysis indicating the metastable amorphous form of IBP during the preparation process. The high free energy in the amorphous state may trap the drug molecule in DE and inhibit drug precipitation or recrystallization in the supersaturated state, which would be beneficial to improving the dissolution behavior of IBP.



Figure 10: DSC of DE-IBP and IBP

3.3.4 X-ray Powder Diffraction (XRPD)

The XRPD pattern of crystalline IBP revealed several sharp peaks, with the strongest peak at around 20.18°, indicating the crystalline condition of IBP (Figure 11). DE-IBP, on the other hand, showed a halo diffractive pattern, and the peaks detected in crystalline IBP were minimal in the diffractogram, indicating that IBP was in an amorphous condition. Since our aim was to obtain DE with decreased crystallinity for improved solubility of the IBP, these results suggested that the release profile of IBP from the DE-IBP should be better than crystalline IBP.



Figure 11: Crystallinity analysis of DE-IBP and IBP

3.3.5 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR)

FT-IR spectroscopy experiment was performed for understanding the interaction and compatibility between the polymers and IBP as shown in figure 12. Here, Spectrum I represent DE-IBP and spectrum II-VII show individual spectrum for PVA, PEG 600, carbopol, kollisolv, stearic acid and IBP. Spectrum of each polymer is found to be different from other without having any overlap which indicates that the polymers had negligible or no interactions and are compatible with the IBP for the formulation of DE-IBP.



Figure 12: FT-IR analysis to determine IBP-Polymer compatibility.

Chapter 4 Conclusion

Ibuprofen has crystalline non-uniform particles which makes it difficult to be readily soluble in water and give the required therapeutic actions. On the other hand, dry emulsion formulation of Ibuprofen showed enhanced solubility due to reduced crystallinity and particle size. As a result, dissolution rate and extent of the dry emulsion formulation have also been improved suggesting better absorption and bioavailability of the drug. Dry emulsion formulation of Ibuprofen could be a promising approach to improve the biopharmaceutical behavior of Ibuprofen and could be an ideal drug for BCS class II drugs. In future dry emulsion formulation of Ibuprofen can be compared with several commercial products and *in vivo* studies can be carried out to further confirm the *in vitro* dissolution profile of the research for enhanced solubility and bioavailability of the drug product. Dry emulsion formulation can be applied to other BCS drugs to improve their physicochemical properties.

References

- Abioye, A. O., Kola-Mustapha, A., & Ruparelia, K. (2014). Impact of in situ granulation and temperature quenching on crystal habit and micromeritic properties of IBP-cationic dextran conjugate crystanules. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 462(1–2), 83–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.12.043
- Absorption systems. (n.d.). *Biopharmaceutics Classification System* | *Absorption Systems*. Retrieved August 18, 2022, from https://www.absorption.com/services/small-molecule/bioequivalence/biopharmaceutics-classification-system
- Arkin, I. (2013). Preface. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Biomembranes, 1828(10), 2255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.06.027
- Bindu, S., Mazumder, S., & Bandyopadhyay, U. (2020). Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and organ damage: A current perspective. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *180*(July). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2020.114147
- Blanca-Lopez, N., Canto, M. G., & Blanca, M. (2018). Other NSAIDs Reactions. In *Drug Allergy Testing*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-48551-7.00018-3
- Boelsterli, U. A. (2003). Diclofenac-induced liver injury: A paradigm of idiosyncratic drug toxicity. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, *192*(3), 307–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0041-008X(03)00368-5
- Bolla, P. K., Clark, B. A., Juluri, A., Cheruvu, H. S., & Renukuntla, J. (2020). Evaluation of formulation parameters on permeation of IBP from topical formulations using Strat-M® membrane. *Pharmaceutics*, *12*(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12020151
- Budoff, P. W. (1979). Use of Mefenamic Acid in the Treatment of Primary Dysmenorrhea. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 241(25), 2713–2716. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1979.03290510021018
- Clarke, S. P. (2013). Development of Hierarchical Magnetic Nanocomposite Materials for Biomedical Applications Thesis submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. January. file:///C:/Users/ASUS/Desktop/Rujukan PhD/Zeta & particle size stability/Sarah Clarke PhD final version.pdf
- Danaei, M., Dehghankhold, M., Ataei, S., Hasanzadeh Davarani, F., Javanmard, R., Dokhani, A., Khorasani, S., & Mozafari, M. R. (2018). Impact of particle size and polydispersity index on the clinical applications of lipidic nanocarrier systems. *Pharmaceutics*, 10(2), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics10020057
- Dange, V., Shid, S., Magdum, C. S., Mohite, S. K., & Nitalikar, M. M. (2015). A Review: Dry Emulsion. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research, 5(4), 208–210. https://doi.org/10.5958/2231-5691.2015.00032.5
- Desjardins, P., Black, P., Papageorge, M., Norwood, T., Shen, D. D., Norris, L., & Ardia, A. (2002). IBP arginate provides effective relief from postoperative dental pain with a more rapid onset of action than IBP. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 58(6), 387–394.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-002-0491-0

- Fasinu, P., Pillay, V., Ndesendo, V. M. K., Du Toit, L. C., & Choonara, Y. E. (2011). Diverse approaches for the enhancement of oral drug bioavailability. *Biopharmaceutics and Drug Disposition*, 32(4), 185–209. https://doi.org/10.1002/BDD.750
- Ghosh, L. K., Ghosh, N. C., Chatterjee, M., & Gupta, B. K. (1998). Product development studies on the tablet formulation of IBP to improve bioavailability. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*, 24(5), 473–477. https://doi.org/10.3109/03639049809085645
- Gomez-Orellana, I. (2005). Strategies to improve oral drug bioavailability. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 2(3), 419–433. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2.3.419
- Gupta, A., & Bah, M. (2016). NSAIDs in the Treatment of Postoperative Pain. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, 20(11). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-016-0591-7
- Hatanaka, J., Kimura, Y., Lai-Fu, Z., Onoue, S., & Yamada, S. (2008). Physicochemical and pharmacokinetic characterization of water-soluble Coenzyme Q10 formulations. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 363(1–2), 112–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.07.019
- Irvine, J., Afrose, A., & Islam, N. (2018). Formulation and delivery strategies of IBP: challenges and opportunities. In *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* (Vol. 44, Issue 2, pp. 173– 183). Taylor and Francis Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1080/03639045.2017.1391838
- Jadhav, N. V., Pawar, M. A., & Vavia, P. R. (2022). Pickering Dry Emulsion System for Improved Oral Delivery of Fenofibrate. *AAPS PharmSciTech* 2022 23:6, 23(6), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1208/S12249-022-02292-Y
- Kantor, T. G. (1979). Drugs Five Years Later IBP. Annals of Internal Medicine, Volume 91(6), 877–882. https://annals.org/aim/article-abstract/693583/IBP
- Klueglich, M., Ring, A., Scheuerer, S., Trommeshauser, D., Schuijt, C., Liepold, B., & Berndl, G. (2005). IBP extrudate, a novel, rapidly dissolving IBP formulation: Relative bioavailability compared to IBP lysinate and regular IBP, and food effect on all formulations. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 45(9), 1055–1061. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270005279579
- Klyashchitsky, B. A., & Owen, A. J. (1999). Nebulizer-compatible liquid formulations for aerosol pulmonary delivery of hydrophobic drugs: Glucocorticoids and cyclosporine. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 7(2), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.3109/10611869909085494
- Legg, T. J., Laurent, A. L., Leyva, R., & Kellstein, D. (2014). IBP Sodium Is Absorbed Faster than Standard IBP Tablets: Results of Two Open-Label, Randomized, Crossover Pharmacokinetic Studies. *Drugs in R and D*, 14(4), 283–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40268-014-0070-8
- Levis, K. A., Lane, M. E., & Corrigan, O. I. (2003). Effect of buffer media composition on the solubility and effective permeability coefficient of IBP. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 253(1–2), 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(02)00645-2
- Mc Naught, a. D., & Wilkinson, a. (2012). Compendium of Chemical Terminology-Gold Book. *Iupac*, 1670. https://doi.org/10.1351/goldbook

- Montinari, M. R., Minelli, S., & De Caterina, R. (2019). The first 3500 years of aspirin history from its roots A concise summary. *Vascular Pharmacology*, *113*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vph.2018.10.008
- Murray, M. D., & Brater, D. C. (1993). Renal toxicity of the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, *33*, 435–465. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pa.33.040193.002251
- Ong, C. K. S., Lirk, P., Tan, C. H., & Seymour, R. A. (2007). An evidence-based update on nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *Clinical Medicine and Research*, 5(1), 19–34. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.2007.698
- Onoue, S., Sato, H., Ogawa, K., Kojo, Y., Aoki, Y., Kawabata, Y., Wada, K., Mizumoto, T., & Yamada, S. (2012). Inhalable dry-emulsion formulation of cyclosporine A with improved anti-inflammatory effects in experimental asthma/COPD-model rats. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics* and *Biopharmaceutics*, 80(1), 54–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2011.10.003
- Patel, A., Bell, M., O'Connor, C., Inchley, A., Wibawa, J., & Lane, M. E. (2013). Delivery of IBP to the skin. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 457(1), 9–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.09.019
- Saino, V., Monti, D., Burgalassi, S., Tampucci, S., Palma, S., Allemandi, D., & Chetoni, P. (2010). Optimization of skin permeation and distribution of IBP by using nanostructures (coagels) based on alkyl vitamin C derivatives. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 76(3), 443–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.08.004
- Sarfraz, R. M., Bashir, S., Mahmood, A., Ahsan, H., Riaz, H., Raza, H., Rashid, Z., Raza, S. A., Abrar, M. A., Abbas, K., & Yasmeen, T. (2017). Application of various polymers and polymers based techniques used to improve solubility of poorly water soluble drugs: A review. Acta Poloniae Pharmaceutica - Drug Research, 74(2), 347–356.
- Sato, H., Ogawa, K., Kojo, Y., Suzuki, H., Mizumoto, T., & Onoue, S. (2015). Physicochemical Stability Study on Cyclosporine A Loaded Dry-Emulsion Formulation with Enhanced Solubility. In *Chem. Pharm. Bull* (Vol. 54, Issue 1).
- Savjani, K. T., Gajjar, A. K., & Savjani, J. K. (2012). Drug solubility: importance and enhancement techniques. *ISRN Pharmaceutics*, 2012, 195727. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/195727
- Shin, D., Lee, S. J., Ha, Y. M., Choi, Y. S., Kim, J. W., Park, S. R., & Park, M. K. (2017). Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic evaluation according to absorption differences in three formulations of IBP. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, 11, 135–141. https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S121633
- Shumilov, M., Bercovich, R., Duchi, S., Ainbinder, D., & Touitou, E. (2010). IBP transdermal ethosomal gel: Characterization and efficiency in animal models. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*, 6(5), 569–576. https://doi.org/10.1166/jbn.2010.1153
- Sinha, S., Ali, M., Baboota, S., Ahuja, A., Kumar, A., & Ali, J. (2010). Solid dispersion as an approach for bioavailability enhancement of poorly water-soluble drug ritonavir. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, *11*(2), 518–527. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-010-9404-1

- Smith, Y. (2019). *What is Drug Absorption?* News Medical Life Sciences. https://www.news-medical.net/health/What-is-Drug-Absorption.aspx
- Soares, F. L. F., & Carneiro, R. L. (2013). Green synthesis of IBP-nicotinamide cocrystals and inline evaluation by Raman spectroscopy. *Crystal Growth and Design*, 13(4), 1510–1517. https://doi.org/10.1021/cg3017112
- Stetefeld, J., McKenna, S. A., & Patel, T. R. (2016). Dynamic light scattering: a practical guide and applications in biomedical sciences. *Biophysical Reviews*, 8(4), 409–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12551-016-0218-6
- Tsutsumi, S., Gotoh, T., Tomisato, W., Mima, S., Hoshino, T., Hwang, H. J., Takenaka, H., Tsuchiya, T., Mori, M., & Mizushima, T. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum stress response is involved in nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced apoptosis. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 11(9), 1009–1016. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4401436
- Vemula, V. R., Lagishetty, V., & Lingala, S. (2010). Solubility enhancement techniques. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research, 5(1), 41–51.
- Wood, D. M., Monaghan, J., Streete, P., Jones, A. L., & Ivor Dargan, P. (2006). Fatality after deliberate ingestion of sustained-release IBP: A case report. *Critical Care*, 10(2), 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc4850

Zhang, L., Xu, C., Mao, J., Wang, W., Han, H., Pu, Y., & Zhang, T. (2019). Formulation and Characterization of Novel Dry Suspension and Dry Emulsion of 20(S)-Protopanaxadiol. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, 20(7). https://doi.org/10.1208/S12249-019-1487-8